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‘The Prince who walks away from power walks away from the power to do good.’
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INTRODUCTION





This is the inside story of the Liberal Democrat–Conservative coalition government of 2010–15. It is the first detailed and extensive account by one of those who served in this government.


I was one of a small number of MPs and advisers who helped negotiate the coalition between the Liberal Democrats and Conservatives in May 2010. I attended the first Cabinet meeting, on Thursday 13 May 2010, and I was there at the last Cabinet meeting, at 9.45 a.m. on Tuesday 24 March 2015. Only fifteen other ministers were present on both occasions.


In writing this account, I have drawn on my own records of my time in government. I have also been able to access some of the records and recollections of my close colleagues. This has allowed me to produce a detailed account of the government and its work.


Where I put conversations in quotation marks, it is generally because I was present to hear exactly what was said. Where I was not present, I have usually sought to summarise the reported conversations, unless I have highly reliable accounts of particular exchanges to draw on. Of course, in both cases it is impossible to vouch for every word spoken, but I am confident that I have provided a fair and accurate account.


In telling the story of the coalition, I have sought to be as open and revealing as possible. But I have obviously had to respect the rules about the privacy of certain government information, not least where national security is concerned. I have also had to weigh carefully where revealing sensitive information about individuals, or repeating conversations held in the expectation of privacy, might be considered unreasonable or discourteous. I have held back much from my account which might fall into these categories – but generally only where these details are not fundamentally important to the story I am telling.


I do not, however, pretend that this account is exhaustive or that it allocates to each area of the government’s work a fair, measured and proportionate amount of space. Inevitably, this book reflects my own sense of what was important in the government’s work and the areas that I was involved in. However, the roles I held in government – Chief Secretary to the Treasury, Minister of State in the Cabinet Office, and Minister of State for Schools – gave me a very good vantage point to assess the most important areas of the coalition’s work.


It must also be understood that as a Liberal Democrat member of the government, I was in a better place to view the internal workings of the Liberal Democrat side of the coalition, and my account draws very much on this particular perspective.


I decided to write this book now for three reasons. Firstly, I think it is important that historic narratives of periods such as this should be written, and in this era of intensive media coverage and freedom of information it seems unnecessary to wait for twenty or thirty years before the true story can be told.


Secondly, I think there are some important lessons for my own party and others to consider following the period of coalition. This account seeks to be honest and self-critical in order that the right conclusions can be drawn for the future. And many of the issues described in this book are still relevant to the major political challenges that we face today, so that I hope my story may assist people in understanding these challenges and drawing the right conclusions.


Finally, I am very proud of what the Liberal Democrats achieved in the coalition. I want this book to stand as a record of some of the great progress I believe we secured, as well an honest account of our mistakes.


Having written this account, and reviewed the story I had to tell, two risks were evident to me which I should draw to the reader’s attention. Firstly, when looking back over a five-year period of government in which so many different challenges and issues arose, it is inevitable that what catches the eye of any author are the dramas, conflicts and controversies. I record many of these in the pages which follow. The inevitable risk is that the reader may conclude that coalition was one long process of dispute and strife – whereas, in fact, the 2010–15 government was, on the majority of issues, very much united, and successfully pursued an ambitious programme of social and economic reform. There were few issues on which the coalition parties divided in the House of Commons, and there were similarly few issues on which the coalition was defeated – as least in the elected chamber. What this account seeks to do, however, is to pull back the curtain behind this generally united front, to show how decisions were made and why.


The second cautionary note is about individuals, and the impression of them which may be formed by references and quotations from particular events over a five-year period in government. It is possible to perfectly accurately record what someone has said at any point in time, while simultaneously creating an overall impression of the individual which may prove partial or inaccurate. We all at times say things which, taken out of context, can create a distorted impression of who we are and what we stand for. For this reason I have taken the opportunity towards the end of the book to offer a more rounded evaluation of a few of the most important characters in this narrative. In politics, as in life, individuals are rarely always right or always wrong, and their characters can be far more complex than much one-dimensional reporting allows for. I hope that the portraits I have created are fair to politicians in both coalition parties.


I have sought to write an account that is balanced, rounded and fair. But, of course, I do not claim to be a neutral and impartial observer of events. I helped to create the coalition and was a strong supporter of this government and of my party leader and friend Nick Clegg for five years. On 7 May 2015, the Liberal Democrats received a brutal judgement from the electorate on our period in office, losing all but eight of our fifty-six seats in the House of Commons. I have never believed in questioning or second guessing the decision of the referee. But I hope that in a small way this book will help to contribute to a fair evaluation of the service of my party, the Liberal Democrats, to the people of our country.




















AN EXIT POLL


MAY 2015





On the evening of Wednesday 6 May 2015, Nick Clegg had completed the final leg of his election campaign tour. The Liberal Democrat leader’s final sweep through the UK had started at sunrise in the far south-west of England, at Lands’s End, on the previous day and it had now finished in the far north of Scotland, at John O’ Groats.


Now, on Wednesday night, Nick Clegg was travelling back to his constituency in Sheffield, in a tiny plane, accompanied only by his senior press spokesman – the laddish, sharp-tongued cheeky chappy James McGrory.


The small plane was making its way south through a ferocious storm, and was being pitched around in the black sky. ‘Don’t worry,’ said the pilot, ‘this plane is thirty years old, and it hasn’t come down yet!’ Nick Clegg didn’t feel particularly reassured. James McGrory dropped off to sleep.


Sitting in his seat, and reflecting back on the exhausting six-week election campaign, the Liberal Democrat leader felt that it had gone as well as could be expected. His performance in the election debates had been well received, and he felt that the campaign was much better managed and organised than in 2010.


By late evening, the Deputy Prime Minister was safely home in Sheffield with his wife, Miriam, preparing for the final day of the election.


Much further to the south, in my house in the village of South Petherton, just a few miles from Yeovil in Somerset, I was making my preparations for the last day of our local campaign. I was also looking through for the last time the briefing papers that our Liberal Democrat team had prepared in the event that there was a hung parliament.


I was one of a small team of four MPs and one peer who had been selected a year earlier by Nick Clegg to form our negotiating team for any potential coalition talks. While Danny Alexander was the chair of this group, he was widely expected to lose his seat. And on Sunday 3 May, Nick, Danny and I had met in south London and we had agreed that I would take over the leadership of our negotiating committee in the event that Danny was no longer an MP on 8 May.


Preparations complete, I was in bed by midnight and fell instantly to sleep.


Next morning, my alarm woke me at 4.30 a.m. and by 5.30 I was meeting a group of young Liberal Democrat activists in the streets of south Yeovil. We were gathering early so we could put out a final election-morning leaflet in this key part of the constituency.


For any candidate, the last day of an election is simultaneously nerve-racking and quite soothing. All the hard work is done and you know that the end is finally in sight. But you also know that just a few votes could be critically important, so you have to work right to close of polls at 10 p.m.


The Liberal Democrats held fifty-six seats in the House of Commons. My own private calculations showed that on a bad night we could be left with as few as twenty, and on a good night it could be as high as thirty. So twenty-five parliamentary seats for the Liberal Democrats was my central prediction – and I fully expected my own constituency of Yeovil to be one of those we held, albeit with a very much reduced majority.


The morning was cloudy, with very light rain. We had finished putting out our leaflets by around 7 a.m. and we passed one of our local councillors, Bridget Dollard, heading off to man the local polling station.


Throughout the day, as always on election days, we called our voters to encourage them to cast their votes. The reception we received was generally positive, but there was one early sign that caused me concern. My superb and experienced election agent, Sam Crabb, reported that in one part of Yeovil – the parish of Brympton – the turnout was unusually high. Indeed, he said that there were queues at the polling stations before 9 a.m. – unheard of in this part of Yeovil. Brympton was a key Lib Dem/Conservative battleground, where a lot of floating voters lived. What was galvanising voters to turn out in such areas so early, I wondered. That night we would find out the answer.


My day started in Rowan Way, with hard-working activists such as Emma Dunn and Kris Castle. It ended in Westland Road – a ‘heartland’ Liberal Democrat area, just outside the gates of the famous helicopter factory, where our vote seemed to me to be as strong as ever. Knowing that the next twenty-four hours were likely to be very busy, and almost certainly without opportunities to sleep, I finished my ‘knocking up’ of Lib Dem voters at 8.30 p.m., and I was back home in South Petherton by 9 p.m. – just one hour before polls closed in one of the closest general elections in fifty years.


In Sheffield, Nick Clegg had also spent the day out door-knocking, in the more affluent parts of his seat, seeking to win over former Conservative voters in what was now a Lib Dem/Labour marginal seat. He was home in the early evening and made his final preparations for what was bound to be a whirlwind forty-eight hours.


In South Petherton, I packed my bags into my car, with all the material that I would need in the event of hung parliament negotiations. The national election result still seemed highly uncertain, but a hung parliament was regarded as a high probability and I expected to go straight from my count in Yeovil to Whitehall – possibly using as a first base my ministerial office in the Cabinet Office, at 70 Whitehall.


But before 70 Whitehall, it so happened that I was off to 4 Whitehall. 4 Whitehall, South Petherton, was the home of the unassuming, hard-working, mild-mannered, but formidable Joan Raikes, the chairman of my local constituency party and a loyal and long-standing supporter of mine and of Paddy Ashdown, my predecessor as Yeovil MP.


By tradition, Joan hosted a dinner for the Lib Dem parliamentary candidate on general election night – to keep our minds off the count taking place just a few miles away. I arrived at Joan’s at around 9.50 p.m. – just in time to settle down to dinner before the BBC exit poll was released. Joan switched the television to BBC1 and served up dinner – lamb casserole. The countdown to 10 p.m. began, and at that moment Joan got up from the table to get some drinks from the kitchen.


And then it was 10 p.m. The BBC election night music played, sending tingles down my spine. And suddenly there was David Dimbleby with the BBC exit poll result. I held my breath and leaned forward:




We are saying the Conservatives are the largest party. Here are the figures which we have. Quite remarkable this exit poll. The Conservatives on 316, that’s up 9 since the last election in 2010. Ed Miliband, for Labour, 77 behind him at 239, down 19. If that is the story, it is quite a sensational story.





It might be sensational, but my focus was no longer on the balance between the Conservative and Labour results. What on the earth was the Liberal Democrat projected seats total? I rose to my feet and squinted at the television screen, over on the other side of the room. My heart sank. Alongside the forecast number of Conservative and Labour seats was the Liberal Democrat figure: ten. If that was true, there would be no coalition. And, more seriously, most of our parliamentary party had just been wiped out.


The projected seats total was spectacularly lower than almost anyone had previously forecast.


Of course, it was ‘only an exit poll’, and on television Paddy Ashdown was saying that he would eat his hat if the number was proved right. But we had been through all this in 2010, when the exit poll had projected far fewer seats than we had expected. We had thought the exit poll must be wrong in 2010, but it turned out to be almost exactly right.


I was immediately convinced that the figure of ten Liberal Democrat seats was going to be about right. Not only was this a disaster for my party, but it also meant I could not even take for granted my own constituency in Yeovil. Indeed, I immediately recalled a recent conversation with Ryan Coetzee, our chief election strategist, in our London HQ when I asked for their analysis of the canvassing and polling figures for Yeovil. ‘They look all right,’ I was told. ‘But to be honest, we are not focusing much on your seat. If we don’t win Yeovil, we’d only have about ten seats left anyway.’


I texted Sam Crabb, who was already at the count in Yeovil. ‘You seem to be ahead on the postal votes,’ he texted back, ‘but it is close. Maybe 43 per cent to 37 per cent.’ I was temporarily cheered – this was about the margin of victory overall that I had expected.


Over the previous few days, I had pressed Nick Clegg to fix a telephone conference call for soon after the exit poll results, so that we could talk about the implications of the likely result. The conference call was due shortly. Meanwhile, Joan and I ate large bowls of chocolate ice cream for temporary cheer.


I dialled in to our conference call at 10.30 p.m. We could no longer rely on ‘Switch’, the 10 Downing Street switchboard, which fixed up these conference calls in government, since we were now in political mode, not government mode. On the call when I joined it were Jonny Oates, Nick’s chief of staff; Danny Alexander; Stephen Lotinga, Nick’s press chief; and Ryan Coetzee, chief election strategist. Paddy Ashdown, the general election chairman, was still on the BBC, trying his best to play down the exit poll.


While we waited for Nick to come on the call, Ryan said, ‘This poll has just got to be wrong, hasn’t it?’ He asked me how things were going in Yeovil, and whether we thought we had lost. I cautiously reported back the early, positive, signs from the count. Then, at around 10.35, Nick joined the call.


‘Look,’ he said. ‘This exit poll is pretty shocking, but I just don’t know if we can take it seriously. Apparently there is some other exit poll out which is much better for us. We could talk for ages now about what we might do, but until we know if this exit poll is right, I just don’t see that we can have an intelligent conversation. Anyway, if this poll is right, then frankly we are totally stuffed, and there isn’t much for us to talk about or decide.’


It was therefore agreed that we would end the call and talk again at around 2 a.m., when the results would be much more certain. I had been very clear with my agent that I wanted no communication from him until the result could be reliably gauged. Even when I am winning easily, I cannot stand having a running commentary on my re-election chances.


But on this occasion I was simply too nervous to wait. I texted Sam again and asked what the result was looking like.


‘I’m afraid it’s not good,’ was the reply. ‘The ballots that have been cast on the day are just massively against us. There seems to have been a big swing to the Tories since the postal votes.’


‘Am I going to lose?’ I asked.


‘Yes, I am afraid so,’ was the reply.


‘You’re sure?’


‘Yes,’ he said.


I told Joan. Then I rang my mother to warn her.


Then I phoned Nick Clegg. ‘Nick, I am sorry to tell you, but I have lost Yeovil. This must confirm that the overall result is going to look just as the exit poll has forecast.’


There was a pause at the other end of the phone. Then Nick’s voice. ‘God. Awful. First Danny. And Vince. And Ed. Now you. We are being totally wiped out.’


‘How are things in Sheffield?’ I asked.


‘Well,’ he sighed. ‘It looks OK. I think we are a few thousand on the right side of the line. But I cannot feel remotely happy about it. Going back to Parliament with ten MPs and without any of you is going to be so tough. And it is just such a massive setback for the party.’


We ended the call and I decided to go to our constituency office in Yeovil, to be ready to travel to my election count when the result was imminent.


I said goodbye to Joan and asked her to call my mother again, who I knew would be bitterly upset. I left 4 Whitehall, knowing that this would now be the only Whitehall address I would need to visit for a very long time.


My result was supposed to come in around 2 a.m. but it was endlessly delayed. I sat alone in my office in Yeovil as Lib Dem MP after Lib Dem MP fell. Simon Hughes, in London, looked close to tears – he had lost after thirty-three years as MP. A shell-shocked Vince Cable had also lost, astonishingly, in Twickenham. Ed Davey, who had won Kingston and Surbiton against all odds in 1997, was also gone, along with the brilliant Pensions Minister and local campaigner Steve Webb in Thornbury and Yate. The only recompense to me was that it didn’t feel personal – the Liberal Democrats were simply being swept away in an electoral tsunami.


Then, finally, at around 5 a.m., I headed for my own count to accept my defeat. Our Lib Dem counting agents looked shattered – including many of my brilliant constituency office staff, who knew their own jobs were now gone too.


The result was declared, and I left by a side door, dodging the press.


On the edge of Yeovil, I stopped the car in a lay-by and replied to a whole series of sympathetic text messages coming through from political friends and foes alike. And then, with the public show of the count behind me, and in the privacy of my car, it was no longer possible to hold back all the emotion.


It was no longer necessary to drive straight for London, as I had planned, so with the sun of a new day rising in the sky, I headed elsewhere, to rest and recuperate.


After pulling in to a service station for petrol, I had a call from Danny Alexander.


‘Hi, it’s Danny here. I am sorry about your result.’


‘Likewise,’ I said. ‘Are you OK?’


‘Yes,’ replied Danny. ‘We fought a very strong campaign, but I always knew it was going to be tough.’


‘Well, one silver lining is that we won’t have to spend the next five days locked away with Labour or the Tories talking about coalitions,’ I said.


‘Yes,’ laughed Danny. ‘I don’t think we need today’s planned meeting of the coalition negotiating committee any more either!’


‘That’s probably a good thing,’ I said, ‘because not a single one of our team was re-elected. Steve Webb has also lost, as has Lynne Featherstone. In fact, we need to tell Nick that he did a pretty bloody awful job of choosing the negotiating committee!’


‘I’m sure Nick would appreciate hearing that!’ joked Danny.


This painful day might have been over for Danny and for me, and we might even be able to engage in a little gallows humour. But it was not over for Nick Clegg.


He had known, of course, immediately, that this was the end of his leadership, and that the scale of defeat was so serious that an announcement could not be delayed.


But the emotional pressure was immense, not just because of his personal circumstances but because of his feeling of horror as he saw one MP after another lose their seats.


He chain smoked all night. On an early morning conference call, he revealed to his closest staff that he would travel back to London after the Sheffield count and announce that he was standing down as leader.


Nick’s speech writer and press adviser, Phil Reilly, went round to Nick’s home in Sheffield and together they wrote out his resignation speech.


Then the Liberal Democrat leader was off to his Sheffield count, trying to keep his composure in the face of jeering Labour supporters and the endless drip-drip-drip of bad news from constituency counts across the country.


Only after the count did Nick allow his emotions to get the better of him in his car, travelling to the airport.


At the airport, he and his team met up with one of his closest political advisers, Matthew Hanney, who looked exhausted and shell-shocked. On the plane down to London, Nick practised his resignation speech – and he was determined to get through it all without breaking down.


Nick Clegg’s team, led by his trusted chief of staff Jonny Oates, had prepared for every possible eventuality. They had hired a central London venue, knowing that this was where Nick would deliver one of two speeches: either his response to a hung parliament, with possible terms for entering a second coalition, or his resignation speech. It was now to be the latter.


The speech was well received, and Nick got through it – just about – while holding his emotions together.


By some awful coincidence, there was then a Victory in Europe Day commemoration to attend in Whitehall, with David Cameron and Ed Miliband.


The three party leaders met in a room in the Foreign Office, where an over-zealous army officer insisted on taking them in great detail through the arrangements for the event. Other Conservative ministers present looked uncomfortable, and avoided looking the former Deputy Prime Minister in the face.


The Prime Minister also seemed uncomfortable and ill at ease. Later, after the ceremony, he spoke briefly to Nick, telling him that he had been reading the Liberal Democrat manifesto just a few days before and that he thought some of its policies were ‘really quite good’. David Cameron admitted that just the day before he had also been drafting his own possible resignation statement. The Prime Minister was also clearly surprised by some of the seats his party had won, admitting that he had only visited seats such as Twickenham to ‘tweak our tail’.


‘I’d say just this,’ replied Nick Clegg. ‘Build on what we achieved together – don’t squander it.’


From George Osborne, there was a heartfelt and generous message, by text, as is the way in modern government, as well as in modern life: ‘You didn’t deserve it. I have admired you and what we did together in government.’


And then, for Nick Clegg, there was the most difficult part of all: returning home to his family, including his three young boys, who had been hearing all day on the news of their father’s humiliation, and now his resignation.


On Saturday morning, Nick Clegg woke early, feeling very low. He dragged himself out of bed and said to his son Antonio that they should go to the shops together and buy a mobile phone. In the world beyond government, Nick Clegg would now need a new telephone to replace the security-protected devices he had been required to use since 2010.


Nick was nervous about the possible public reaction to him out in Putney High Street, near to his house. He worried that people would be confrontational or rude, but in fact the response was universally warm and almost overwhelming. Person after person came up to commiserate with him. One woman hugged him, saying that she was very sad at the result and that the Liberal Democrats had done a brilliant job in government. ‘Thanks so much for your support,’ said Nick.


‘Oh,’ the lady replied. ‘It’s a bit embarrassing. I actually voted Green!’


Another woman came up to say to say that Nick and his party did not deserve the results which they had received. ‘You did the right thing going into government. You made some mistakes, definitely, but you did a lot of good things too. We are worried that the Lib Dems aren’t there any more to moderate the others. You are going to be missed.’


The warm reaction – in excess even of the public reaction after ‘Cleggmania’ in 2010 – made an impact on Nick, and he could see that it did on his son, too. On the previous evening it had seemed that the only story was about Liberal Democrat failure and electoral humiliation. But there was another story, too – the story of a small party of MPs who went into government at a time of national crisis, and of that party’s five years of work in government to bring the economy back from the brink and make Britain a fairer and more liberal country.


It is a story of some errors, and of many achievements.


And that is the story which this book will tell.
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A HUNG PARLIAMENT


MAY 2010





General Election Day 2010 – at last, the long wait was over. And, at last, there was some room in my kitchen again. When Gordon Brown seemed likely to call an election back in 2007, I had ordered the printing of our first general election leaflet. When Mr Brown changed his mind, my local party considered that it was too expensive to reprint this leaflet again, so I had been obliged to store 45,000 A3 ‘Election Flying Start’ leaflets in the kitchen of my constituency home – for two and a half years. Now they were all gone.


I did the usual things for a general election day: got up at around 5 a.m., delivered ‘Good Morning’ leaflets to voters in Freedom Avenue and Springfield Road in Yeovil, then visited some polling stations, and afterwards knocked on doors to remind Liberal Democrat supporters to vote.


I finished in East Yeovil at around 8.30 p.m., and now, just as on election night 2015, I was at 4 Whitehall, South Petherton, about to have dinner with local party activist Joan Raikes while waiting for the first exit polls.


For the first and only time in my political career, I was not that worried about the result in my own constituency. The Liberal Democrat campaign had been successful both locally and nationally – boosted by Nick Clegg’s very strong performances in the televised election debates.


I was expecting a majority of over 10,000 in Yeovil, and the latest intelligence from those at the top of the national party suggested that we could expect to win over eighty seats across the UK – well up on our present total of sixty-three seats.


At 10 p.m., as Joan and I were about to start eating, the BBC election programme began, with its stirring and distinctive election night music. I was optimistic and excited. Eighty seats would be the party’s best performance since well before the Second World War, and it would also guarantee a hung parliament, and herald a possible Liberal Democrat role in government.


But as the first forecasts flashed onto television screens across the country, I received a huge shock. The projected vote share and seat number were well below both our party’s and the media’s expectations. Instead of the large numbers of gains we expected, we saw predicted losses. I was inclined to dismiss the projections as a rogue poll, particularly as I heard the positive news coming in from my election count and from other Somerset constituencies.


Eventually, the call came through from my election agent, Sam: ‘You need to come to the count. You’ve won comfortably – the majority will be over 11,000.’


By the time I had reached the Westland Centre in the heart of Yeovil, the counting had finished. I was home and dry with a majority of 13,036, the largest in the constituency’s history.


The returning officer called the candidates and election agents together and went through the spoilt ballot papers. All the candidates agreed solemnly that the ballot paper on which was written ‘They’re all useless bastards’ couldn’t be considered as a vote for any of us.


I made my acceptance speech and then got in my car to drive back to London.


Most winning candidates on election night either join their supporters for some drinks and celebrations or head straight to bed.


But I could do neither – a year before, Nick Clegg had asked me to be one of four MPs who would constitute the Liberal Democrat negotiating team in the event of a hung parliament, just as he would do five years later, ahead of the 2015 campaign. The plan was for the four of us – Danny Alexander, Chris Huhne, Andrew Stunell and me – to head back to London as soon as our election results were confirmed, so that we could start our planning.


As I drove back to London, listening to the election coverage on the radio, I realised that our excellent Liberal Democrat results in Somerset were the exception. Nationally, we had lost a number of seats we’d expected to hold, and we had missed securing almost all our target seats. After the ecstasy of Cleggmania, it was a massive disappointment.


I was the first MP back into our party headquarters in Cowley Street in London, where the mood was sombre. But however disappointing the results were, it was impossible to ignore one salient fact: the UK was heading for a hung parliament in which the Liberal Democrats would be a powerful player. Indeed, it was possible that our party was on the threshold of entering government for the first time since the Second World War.


The final polling projections had the Conservatives on 306 seats, Labour on 258, and the Liberal Democrats with 57. The smaller parties had around 30 seats combined.


Nick Clegg had made clear throughout the general election campaign that in the event of a hung parliament we would talk first to the party with the greatest electoral mandate to form a government – ‘the largest number of seats and votes’, as we put it. This did not mean that we would only contemplate going into government with the largest party, but we thought it would look very odd to talk first to the losing party. The party with the largest number of seats and votes was the Conservative Party.


Nick arrived back in London from his own count in Sheffield later than expected, at around 10.40 a.m. He did his best to look positive, but he was shattered by the disappointment of losing seats, after what had seemed such a successful campaign. On the steps outside our 4 Cowley Street headquarters, he announced to the waiting media that he would stick to his pledge: the party with the largest number of seats and votes would have the first opportunity to form a government.


Once inside party headquarters, Nick made a speech from the top of the main staircase to Liberal Democrat staff and volunteers, thanking them for their hard work. When he finished speaking there was warm applause, but he turned quickly away and entered the small first-floor conference room, choking back tears of emotion and disappointment.


This small conference room that Nick now entered was hardly a fitting assembly point for our first power-sharing discussions. It had been used for the last twenty years or so as the preparation room for Liberal Democrat press conferences, which were held next door in a larger, oak-panelled, conference room. In this small room, the party leader, a researcher and one or two press officers would regularly prepare to launch the latest little-noticed Liberal Democrat policy paper. Amongst the small audience of people seated next door awaiting the press conference would be Liberal Democrat researchers and staff, to make up the numbers. If we were lucky, there would also be a junior reporter from the Financial Times, someone from the BBC and a stray regional reporter who found himself without anything better to do.


But now this little conference room was bursting full of senior MPs and party staff. We were there to consider the formation of the next government of the United Kingdom. There was not much time for wondering what had gone wrong.


In considering how to react next, we were not starting from a blank piece of paper. For six months, Danny Alexander, Chris Huhne, Andrew Stunell and I had been meeting to consider what our strategy would be should we find ourselves facing a hung parliament.


We had produced for Nick Clegg, in early March, a confidential paper entitled ‘Post-Election Strategy: Recommendations’. Its principal conclusions had been accepted by Nick, in spite of the fact that Chris Huhne had tabled a last-minute ‘Minority Report’. Chris had made clear that he believed the only viable strategy for the Liberal Democrats in a hung parliament was to go into a full coalition. The rest of us considered that in some circumstances it would be better for us to remain outside government – possibly in a ‘confidence and supply’ arrangement, where, in exchange for various policy agreements, we would support a minority government in key votes.


Our post-election strategy paper had anticipated that the Conservatives would be the largest party. Our conclusion was:




In the event of the Conservative Party failing to secure a majority but having the strongest mandate, we can expect an immediate, very warm, and very public approach from David Cameron. It would be important to respond positively to such an invitation, by entering into discussions in which all options are on the table.





However, the strategy paper concluded – against Chris Huhne’s wishes – that a full coalition was ‘extremely unlikely’, because we did not expect the Conservatives to concede on key Liberal Democrat demands such as electoral reform. We also assumed that any policy deal might not be strong enough to persuade Liberal Democrat members to support a coalition.


Now, in the late morning of Friday 7 May 2010, we prepared for this ‘immediate, very warm’ offer. And every way we looked at the numbers, it seemed unlikely that a coalition with Labour could be a success – even together, the two parties would not be able to command a majority in Parliament. Nor were we remotely attracted by the idea of putting the unpopular Gordon Brown back into Downing Street.


But a coalition with Labour was not completely impossible, if minor parties supported it, and in any case it would strengthen our negotiating position if we had two large parties to talk to rather than one.


As Chris Huhne now pointed out: ‘It is absolutely vital to strengthen our bargaining position by making a rainbow coalition a real possibility. If we can do this, we might even persuade David Cameron to accept a referendum on voting reform.’


So, we decided that although we would talk to the Conservatives first, we should not rule out talks with Labour. Gordon Brown had already been in contact with Vince Cable and was desperately trying to fix an early call with Nick Clegg.


Nick was already forming a clear view of what he thought should happen next. As he put it to our meeting on Friday morning: ‘I have to say that based on the existing arithmetic in the Commons, I am incredibly dubious that a rainbow coalition can deliver. I also think the markets would go nuts. It would be really difficult to take tough action to tackle the deficit, and that could mean higher interest rates and the UK being targeted by the markets in the same way as Greece, Portugal and the other high-debt countries. I am seriously worried about that prospect.


‘And as for Gordon Brown, I have to tell you that I believe he would be incapable of leading a coalition government, and that he would be unacceptable to the country. But let’s be absolutely clear, a minority Conservative administration would lead quickly to a second general election. This would be bad for the economy, bad for the country, and a big political risk for us. I think it will be tough to negotiate what we want from either the Conservatives or Labour. But failure would condemn us and the country to a second general election.’


Later in the day, David Cameron made his ‘big, open and comprehensive’ offer to the Liberal Democrats from St Stephen’s Club in Queen Anne’s Gate. And in the afternoon, he spoke to Nick Clegg and pressed for early talks with the Liberal Democrat negotiating team; these were fixed for 7.30 that evening in the Cabinet Office in Whitehall.


Our team met for half an hour at the National Liberal Club beforehand – although we had some difficulty in persuading a sceptical doorkeeper to let us in.


Meanwhile, Gordon Brown had also made a strong pitch by phone to Nick Clegg, asking for parallel talks with the Labour Party. Nick made clear that such talks could not yet start: he had promised to talk first to the largest party in Parliament, and he was determined to honour that pledge.


These first talks with the Conservative side that evening went well. David Cameron had assembled his negotiating team from his most trusted allies: William Hague, George Osborne, Oliver Letwin, and his chief of staff, Ed Llewellyn. Both sides found the discussions to be warmer, more relaxed and more open than might otherwise have been expected. The Conservative team seemed to be interested in serious talks about how a joint policy programme could be drawn up that would deliver as many of our key priorities as possible.


In preparing for the possibility of coalition talks, and in drawing up the Liberal Democrat manifesto, we had already settled on what our main policy priorities would be. These were highlighted on the first pages of our manifesto and clearly communicated during the election campaign. The four main priorities were: clearing up the economic mess left by Labour and building a ‘green’ economy; raising the tax-free personal allowance to £10,000 per year; introducing a £2.5 billion ‘pupil premium’ to target more support at children from disadvantaged backgrounds in the schools system; and delivering an ambitious programme of political reform – including proportional representation.


We briefly discussed all four issues with the Conservatives in our Sunday evening meeting. As we expected, the issue of proportional representation was going to prove the most difficult to negotiate. David Cameron had already proposed some kind of ‘review’ about voting systems, but I made clear in this first meeting that this would be regarded by my party as an unacceptable solution, designed to kick the issue into the long grass. William Hague responded: ‘This is a very difficult issue for the Conservatives.’


George Osborne suggested that a confidence and supply agreement might be acceptable to the Conservative team although ‘David Cameron’s strong view is that he would prefer the stability of a full coalition.’


On Saturday 8 May, Nick Clegg spent most of the morning meeting with the Liberal Democrat ‘shadow Cabinet’ and with our new parliamentary party. The agreement of our parliamentary party and of the ‘Federal Executive’ of the Liberal Democrat Party would be necessary to approve any coalition agreement. Even after this, the party constitution required a further vote of approval by a special conference of party members. This ‘triple lock’ meant that there was no question of going into coalition without the strong support of a majority of the party.


Nick Clegg, Danny Alexander and I had expected many of our MPs to be unenthusiastic about the prospect of doing deals with the other two parties, and particularly with the Conservatives – our ‘traditional’ enemy at Westminster. In fact, at these first two meetings, most of our MPs spoke out strongly in favour of some kind of stable agreement being reached. Chris Huhne warned that without an agreement, we might rapidly face a second general election – which he predicted could cost us twenty of our fifty-seven seats. None of our MPs relished the prospect of a second general election, and there was a concern that we might be blamed by the electorate if we were not seen to be acting in the national interest.


Most MPs highlighted how unpopular it would be to go into coalition with a Gordon Brown-led Labour Party. Many stressed what our negotiating team had already decided: even if we could not extract a pledge on proportional representation, we should press for a referendum on the Alternative Vote. The Alternative Vote was a far more modest form of electoral reform, in which candidates were ranked in preference order by voters. The votes of the bottom candidates were then redistributed until one candidate had at least 50 per cent of the vote.


On Saturday afternoon, we held a first, brief, and secret meeting with the team that Gordon Brown had decided would negotiate for Labour: Peter Mandelson, Andrew Adonis, Ed Balls, Harriet Harman and Ed Miliband. This took place in a conference room in Portcullis House, where many MPs had their Westminster offices, rather than in the Cabinet Office itself. Chris Huhne undiplomatically took it on himself to try to raise the issue of Gordon Brown’s leadership and whether he should be stepping down as Labour leader to clear the way for a coalition deal. This irritated the chair of our negotiating team, Danny Alexander, because it had already been decided that this issue should be addressed in private by Nick Clegg. ‘No, Chris, that is not a matter we are discussing,’ Danny interrupted.


On Sunday, our first substantive talks began with the Conservatives. We were back in the Cabinet Office, in a huge room up on the third floor that had once been used by Michael Heseltine when he was Deputy Prime Minister. It was probably the largest office I had ever seen, and it was to be taken over in due course by the Conservative minister Francis Maude.


On the commencement of the talks, we declined an offer from Gus O’Donnell, the head of the civil service, to have civil servants in the room ‘facilitating’ the meeting. It was a good decision: it allowed us to deal with each other in a direct, open and straightforward way.


William Hague and George Osborne suggested that we might want to meet the Governor of the Bank of England and the Permanent Secretary to the Treasury later in the day. We rejected that offer too – concerned that this might simply be a subtle trap, designed to manoeuvre us into supporting Conservative economic policy. This was undoubtedly the right decision and avoided the Bank of England and the Treasury becoming entangled in the politics of forming a coalition.


We decided to tackle the toughest issues on this first day: political reform in the morning session and economic policy in the afternoon.


Some of the political reform agenda was easy to agree on. The Conservatives speedily signed up to our proposal to move to fixed-term parliaments. We had suggested four years. George Osborne intervened to suggest five years – ‘in case the economy takes a bit longer than expected to fix’, he said. It turned out to be a very important decision.


On House of Lords reform, there was also a joint agreement to move to a predominantly elected House, though William Hague warned that ‘the leadership of our party is fine on this. But our backbenchers are rather more anti.’


We Liberal Democrats had already signalled in the first talks on Saturday night that electoral reform would be the potential deal-breaker for us. But we did not wish the talks to be seen to fail solely on a matter of political reform. So we agreed that if we had to reject the coalition option, the main reasons we would give would relate to economic and social policy.


We now decided to see if we could break the log jam on electoral reform, using a proposal that I had advocated in our preparations for coalition talks over the past few months.


Danny Alexander now put forward this proposal: a referendum on the Alternative Vote, in exchange for our support for Conservative proposals to redraw the parliamentary boundaries, to reduce the number of MPs and make constituencies more equal in terms of voter numbers. This was designed to be just one part of a radical package to transform Britain’s outdated political system. For Nick Clegg, deficit reduction and political reform were to be the two main pillars of the coalition policy agenda.


We tried to ‘sell’ the Alternative Vote to the Conservatives as a reform of the first past the post system, but it did not take long for George Osborne to see what we were getting at. ‘This would be really difficult for the Conservative Party,’ added William Hague.


‘But surely you could just impose this on your backbenchers,’ said Chris Huhne. ‘Everyone knows that while the Liberal Democrats are a democratic party, the Conservatives are more like an absolute monarchy.’


‘Chris,’ interrupted William Hague. ‘You are right. The Conservative Party is like an absolute monarchy – but an absolute monarchy that is qualified by regicide. If we took this deal back to our colleagues in the Conservative parliamentary party, we would no longer be their leaders. They would instantly get rid of us.’


George Osborne said that he also considered that a whipped vote of Conservative MPs on an AV referendum would be ‘impossible’.


‘Look, in that case this is all very difficult,’ I said. ‘We have problems too. We cannot sell a coalition deal to our MPs and to our party members without a referendum on voting reform. And this is already the weakest acceptable type of voting reform. You have to realise that if we go into coalition with you, it is inevitable that our vote share will decline. Without the prospect of voting reform, a coalition would just be too dangerous for us.’


George Osborne made one last attempt at agreement: ‘We could give you a guaranteed free vote on AV in the Commons before the end of this year. It would probably get through, because it is Labour policy as well. But we cannot go further.’


We had made good progress on a range of issues, but we seemed to have hit a brick wall. Neither side would concede further. ‘OK,’ said Danny Alexander, ‘I think we need a time-out, to take stock.’


In the afternoon, we turned to economic policy. We discussed deficit reduction and agreed to consider some small in-year cuts in public spending in 2010. Our own election manifesto had suggested that substantive spending cuts should probably start in 2011, to allow the economy to recover before fiscal tightening began. But since our manifesto had been written, our own economy had strengthened, while the international and financial market situation had become much more risky. We considered that a modest and symbolic cut in public spending in 2010 would send out a strong signal to the financial markets, help bring economic stability and reduce any pressure on the UK bond markets – and hence on interest rates.


On taxation, we made clear that we were not willing to budge on our manifesto pledge of delivering a £10,000 personal allowance before the end of the parliament.


George Osborne was concerned about whether a £10,000 allowance was affordable. ‘The advice from the Treasury is that deficit reduction needs higher taxes as well as spending cuts,’ he said. ‘Fine,’ we argued. ‘Raise taxes on those on very high incomes.’ We insisted that this was a bottom-line issue for us: ‘It is good for those on low incomes, will help improve work incentives and will create a fairer tax system,’ argued Danny Alexander.


I also insisted that we would accept nothing less than a £2.5 billion pupil premium, which had to be additional money and not just ‘smoke and mirrors’. George Osborne tried to avoid being pinned down on the numbers – ‘I’m not against it, but it will be very tough to fund’ – but I was determined not to give an inch. My Liberal Democrat colleagues watched our tussle with amusement – I had fought similarly hard for the pledge to be included in our own manifesto.


By the end of the afternoon, we had made a lot of progress but we could not reach an agreement on electoral reform. We returned to Nick Clegg’s office in the House of Commons. Nick had spoken to Gordon Brown earlier in the day and he told us that the Labour leader was ‘desperate for a deal. He is saying he will step down, to clear the way for a Liberal Democrat–Labour coalition. He is also promising a referendum on AV.’


Some senior Liberal Democrats still thought that a coalition with Labour would be politically toxic. Others wanted to explore the possibility further – if only to strengthen our bargaining position.


Nick was worried. ‘If we go with the Tories, we have a coalition with political legitimacy, but we cannot take this risk without major political reform. But if we go in with Labour, it will be very unpopular, and the government could collapse a few months later, because the numbers for a coalition with Labour just don’t stack up. We are between a rock and a hard place.’


Andrew Stunell cautioned against us rushing into any decisions: ‘We are all very tired. We need to take a deep breath and get this right. And we need to realise that from a public and media perspective there is a real, real difficulty legitimising Labour after they have lost the election so badly.’


Monday 10 May was undoubtedly the most dramatic day of the coalition talks. We met the Conservative team again in the morning. They weren’t prepared to budge on the AV referendum; instead they tabled a draft confidence and supply agreement. This would have allowed the Conservatives to form a minority administration, while the Liberal Democrats would have stayed on the opposition benches. The Liberal Democrats would have been obliged to vote with the Conservatives on confidence votes and on the Budget. In addition, we would have had to sign up to support a programme based on ‘the bulk of the Conservative manifesto.’


In exchange, we would secure policies including: membership of a new Financial Stability Council, which would be ‘consulted’ on Budget issues; a ‘priority’ for raising income tax thresholds over the parliament; a free vote in the House of Commons on an AV referendum; and a ‘significant’ pupil premium funded by cuts elsewhere. It was hardly exciting. When the talks broke up in the late morning, we agreed to report back to our parliamentary party. We promised that Nick Clegg would then phone David Cameron back with our decision before the Conservative shadow Cabinet was due to meet at 4 p.m.


When we left the Cabinet Office, we already knew what the Conservative team did not – that if we decided to give the Labour Party a serious chance to form a coalition government, Gordon Brown was willing to announce his resignation as Labour leader later that afternoon to clear the way for talks.


It was now almost time to bring this other option into play.


At 1.40 p.m. our negotiating team met with the entire Liberal Democrat parliamentary party in the debating chamber off Westminster Hall. There was a distinct sense of excitement in the room when we arrived, ten minutes late. MPs and senior peers were waiting to find out the latest news from our talks. Neither negotiating team had been leaking our talks to the media, so most people had little idea what was going on.


We reported back on our discussions. Almost no one in the room was enthusiastic about the idea of a confidence and supply agreement. The general view was that such an agreement offered us responsibility without power. And most people expected that any such arrangement would fold within a few months – forcing a second general election. It was feared that we would then be blamed by many voters for creating economic uncertainty and by others for supporting the Conservatives in government for any period of time.


On the day after the general election, Paddy Ashdown had reminded me of the famous Sherlock Holmes quotation from Arthur Conan Doyle’s The Sign of Four: ‘Once you eliminate the impossible, whatever remains, no matter how improbable, must be the truth.’


The parliamentary party had now rejected two strategic choices – standing on one side and allowing a minority administration, and signing up to a confidence and supply agreement. There was now only one strategic choice available: full-blown coalition. The question was with which party.


At 4 p.m., Nick Clegg telephoned a disappointed David Cameron to inform him that we were rejecting a confidence and supply agreement. It was coalition or nothing. David Cameron was in no doubt about the seriousness of his predicament when just an hour later Gordon Brown stepped into Downing Street to announce formal talks on a coalition with the Liberal Democrats. The Prime Minister also announced his intention to step down as Labour leader to facilitate a Liberal Democrat–Labour government, sending shock waves through Westminster.


A panicked David Cameron was now able to persuade his Conservative parliamentary colleagues to sign up to offering an AV referendum. But he could not be sure that we would reject a Labour coalition. And if Labour were in power, the odds were that Mr Cameron would not just be out of office, he would be out of the leadership of his party. When he went home to his wife and family that evening, he thought that the Conservatives might already be shut out of power.


While David Cameron was trying to rescue the Conservative hopes of government, the Liberal Democrat negotiating team were waiting in Room 391 of Portcullis House for the first major negotiating meeting with the Labour team, which was due to start at 7.30 p.m. We knew the parliamentary arithmetic made a coalition with Labour almost impossible to achieve, but we were willing to give the talks a real chance. As we waited for the Labour team to arrive, the first rumours swept Westminster that the Conservatives were about to make their own offer of an AV referendum.


7.30 p.m. came and went, as did 7.45 p.m. We were all tired, though excited, and we were a little baffled that the Labour team were now late for a rather important meeting.


Eventually, at around 8 p.m., the door swung open and in came Peter Mandelson, Andrew Adonis, Ed Balls, Ed Miliband and Harriet Harman. Peter Mandelson apologised for their team being late. He explained that there had just been a Cabinet meeting, in which Gordon Brown had announced his resignation. Cabinet ministers, he said, had wanted to pay tribute to the outgoing Prime Minister and Labour leader.


We then got down to the negotiations. They were not easy. Hovering over the talks on both sides were doubts over whether the parliamentary arithmetic would allow a Liberal Democrat–Labour coalition to govern effectively. We would need a confidence and supply agreement with the Democratic Unionists, said Peter Mandelson, and we would need to hope that the Scottish Nationalists and others would support the new minority coalition on key votes.


There was a long discussion about constitutional reform and the Alternative Vote. Ed Balls interrupted to make clear that the Labour parliamentary party could not necessarily be relied upon to support an AV referendum, given the views of a significant minority of their MPs. This was perhaps true and certainly worrying – not least because a referendum was actually a Labour Party manifesto commitment.


Peter Mandelson sought to counter these concerns by suggesting that the Tory Party might not deliver on an AV referendum either. I reminded him that Labour had also failed to deliver after the Jenkins Review of voting systems in 1998. He took the point while warning: ‘Watch out for News International. They will work hard to defeat any referendum on this.’


We failed to make solid progress with Labour in other areas, too. There was no acceptance of other key Liberal Democrat policies on the tax-free allowance, the pupil premium, civil liberties and the environment. Labour had been in power for thirteen years and all the policies we now wanted to alter were their policies. They were, quite simply, much more resistant to changes than our other potential coalition partner, who had also been out of power for thirteen years. There simply wasn’t the sense of cooperation and constructive engagement that there had been in the Conservative talks. The Labour Party was arrogant, exhausted, divided and almost certainly incapable of running a minority government. Many Labour MPs thought the party should accept defeat and rebuild in opposition. ‘It would be like being shackled to a rotting corpse,’ I concluded, when we returned to brief Nick Clegg in his office at the end of the night.


All four members of the negotiating team felt the same way after the talks – we were all now recommending a full coalition with the Conservatives, provided we could secure an AV referendum as well as all our other main priorities.


Nick Clegg was clearly surprised by the strength of our opinion. He had just been lobbied by three former Liberal Democrat leaders – Paddy Ashdown, Sir Menzies Campbell and Charles Kennedy – all of whom wanted to go into coalition with Labour. Nick insisted that we hold one more round of talks with Labour the next day, to test whether an agreement might still be possible. This meeting took place, but it did not change our decision – indeed, it was clear that we were still nowhere near consensus on key issues on which we already had agreement with the Conservatives.


By the time we met with the Conservatives again, at 2 p.m. on Tuesday 11 May, only one outcome was likely, namely a full Liberal Democrat–Conservative coalition. Meanwhile, Gordon Brown waited in 10 Downing Street to hear our final decision.


We had a lot of ground to cover in talks with the Conservatives and not much time. We went through a draft coalition agreement, inserting some bullet points and amending others. The commitments on the tax threshold and the pupil premium were toughened up to meet our requirements.


The new wording on the AV referendum was included, and the Conservatives clarified what they were and were not promising. ‘We will make sure this Bill goes through Parliament. We will deliver the referendum, exactly as promised. And then we will beat the hell out of you in the vote!’ laughed Oliver Letwin.


The section on House of Lords reform was swiftly agreed. Nobody paid much attention to George Osborne’s off-the-cuff comment: ‘The four of us in the Conservative negotiating team all agree on this, but we are rather atypical for our party!’


We finished on the issue of Europe, with some wording that had been agreed between David Cameron and Nick Clegg. The two leaders had discussed their attitudes to Europe in some detail and had mutually agreed that they would not let the coalition be ‘hijacked’ by this issue.


By now it was getting late in the day. The Cabinet Secretary, Gus O’Donnell, was becoming increasingly nervous. During one break in the talks, he came up to me and whispered, ‘How much longer is all this going to take? I have got a very unhappy Prime Minister in 10 Downing Street who is desperate to resign. I really don’t think I can hold on to him much longer, but I don’t want him going until I know I have an alternative government.’


We were putting the final touches to the agreement when the door of our negotiating room opened and one of our political advisers shouted, ‘Gordon Brown is coming out to do a press conference.’ While some of our advisers bashed away on their computers to complete the final draft, Gordon Brown stepped out into Downing Street at 7.15 p.m. to announce his resignation and that of his government.


We switched a television on in the corner of our large negotiating room, and I stood in front of it to watch Brown’s statement, along with William Hague, George Osborne and Oliver Letwin. We watched in silence, with only the sound of a helicopter overhead, which was filming the scene below and waiting to track the outgoing Prime Minister’s car on its way to Buckingham Palace.


I had never found Gordon Brown to be a sympathetic character, but there was a lump in my throat as he finished his speech and guided his rarely seen children to the waiting car.


Next to me, George Osborne knew he was now on the verge of becoming Chancellor of the Exchequer – at the age of just thirty-eight. He turned to me, smiled and slapped me on the back, in celebration and to mark our new alliance. I smiled weakly back. For some reason, this suddenly seemed more like a moment to reflect, rather than to celebrate.


As Gordon Brown’s car set off on its way to the palace, our two teams of negotiators finished our work. We agreed that we would leave the Cabinet Office separately, making short statements and then reporting back to our party leaders.


Our Liberal Democrat team left the building first, at 7.30 p.m. After a brief statement on the Cabinet Office steps, we made our way back to Parliament, chased down Whitehall by camera crews and photographers.


Three minutes later, the Conservative team left the Cabinet Office, and barely ten minutes later – at 7.43 p.m. – Gordon Brown and his wife, Sarah, left Buckingham Palace, the Labour leader having resigned as Prime Minister. It looked perfectly choreographed, but it was a close-run thing. Gordon Brown was determined not to leave Downing Street in the dark. Had he resigned while the talks were ongoing, the United Kingdom would have been left in limbo for the arrival of its next government.


The Liberal Democrat Party still had to meet later to approve the final coalition agreement. But already David Cameron had been asked to Buckingham Palace to see the Queen, to be invited to form a new government. For three hours or more he could not be certain that he had a coalition partner.


Meeting in Local Government House in Smith Square at 10 p.m., the mood amongst Liberal Democrat MPs was, however, jubilant. As MPs read through the draft coalition agreement, it was clear that they were delighted by just how much of our manifesto we had managed to negotiate into the document.


Nick Clegg was asked by one MP what his role would be in the coalition. When he replied, with a mixture of modesty, pride and shock, it was to say: ‘If this all goes ahead, I will be the Deputy Prime Minister.’ There was a huge cheer in the room. It wasn’t something that Liberal Democrat MPs had ever heard their party leader say.


At the end of a long debate, the parliamentary party approved the coalition deal by fifty votes to nil, and our peers also later voted thirty-one to nil in favour. It was striking that no parliamentarian had voted against the agreement, though some – such as Charles Kennedy – had abstained.


It was a night of celebration and delight, and eventually we were able to inform the waiting media that the Liberal Democrats were forming a stable coalition with the Conservative Party.


Not every MP was delighted, however. Sir Menzies Campbell, the former party leader, did not vote against the coalition, but – viewing the scenes of celebration – he muttered within my earshot the words of Robert Walpole: ‘They now ring their bells, but they will soon wring their hands.’ I understood very clearly the massive risks that he was alluding to. What we had been through may have been testing, but it was just the easy part. Now we had to form a government, ensure that the government delivered, and protect our party from the backlash that was sure to come.


But all that was for later. As we left Local Government House at close to midnight on a warm spring evening, I reflected on a historic day and some of us now looked forward to what role we might be asked to play in the new government.

















FORMING A COALITION
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On the evening of Tuesday 11 May 2010, after David Cameron had returned from Buckingham Palace, the work of forming the first UK coalition government for sixty-five years had begun.


In spite of our inexperience, the process was swift and efficient. It had taken Belgium eighteen months to negotiate a stable coalition after their elections in 2010. It had taken only five days for the UK coalition to be agreed and now the formation of the government proceeded smoothly too.


While the Liberal Democrats were still securing internal agreement to the coalition programme, David Cameron announced that William Hague was to be Foreign Secretary and George Osborne was to be Chancellor.


During the coalition talks, the two negotiating teams had not discussed ministerial appointments. This was left for direct discussions between David Cameron and Nick Clegg. The two party leaders had already agreed that the Liberal Democrats would have four places in the Cabinet, based roughly on the ratio between the numbers of Liberal Democrat and Conservative MPs.


Nick Clegg was to be Deputy Prime Minister, with cross-government responsibility, including chairmanship of the powerful Home Affairs Committee. Nick had also agreed with the new Prime Minister that he would be in charge of the political reform agenda – a central part of the coalition agreement, and a high priority for the Liberal Democrats. Nick Clegg was aware that he could have asked for and secured a role such as Home Secretary or even Foreign Secretary. But he did not want to spend all his time abroad, and he was also concerned that running a large department would divert him from the essential task of ensuring that the Liberal Democrats delivered across government as a whole.


Vince Cable was the second most senior Liberal Democrat MP, as the party’s deputy leader and Treasury spokesman. Vince’s expertise was clearly in economic policy. But George Osborne had been appointed Chancellor, and neither he nor Vince Cable wished to be working together.


It was therefore agreed that Vince Cable would be the new Business Secretary, an appointment confirmed by Nick Clegg with Vince Cable before the coalition agreement was signed off by Liberal Democrat MPs.


Chris Huhne was the third most senior Liberal Democrat MP. In 2007 he had finished just a few hundred votes behind Nick Clegg in the leadership election. The next day Nick had a very difficult telephone call with his rival, who was clearly upset at having lost the leadership battle. Nick had then offered Chris the party Foreign Affairs portfolio – a senior position, but one that Chris regarded as marginal to the main domestic policy debate. The call ended angrily, with Chris having rejected the role.


Later on, the row was patched up. Nick agreed instead to give Chris the Home Affairs portfolio, shifting Ed Davey to Foreign Affairs. During the telephone call, Chris set another condition for his support for the new party leader: he wanted a guarantee that if the Liberal Democrats went into a coalition government after the 2010 general election, he would have one of the Lib Dem Cabinet posts.


‘Of course,’ replied Nick, thinking that such a scenario was unlikely, and that Chris would in any case have a good claim in such circumstances.


Given the importance of environment and climate change to the Liberal Democrats, this now seemed an obvious department for us to occupy. It was also a complex area of policy, where having an economically literate Secretary of State would be important. The role was offered to Chris Huhne, who enthusiastically accepted it.


The original intention was that Danny Alexander, Nick Clegg’s trusted chief of staff, would not be a full Cabinet member. He had been earmarked for a role in the Cabinet Office, in the centre of government, working with Oliver Letwin to help make the coalition operate effectively. But it was soon realised that with only one Conservative MP for Scotland, the Liberal Democrats had a strong claim to occupy the post of Secretary of State for Scotland. David Cameron therefore agreed to combine Danny’s responsibilities in the centre of government with the Scotland Office role. As a consequence, the Liberal Democrats would now hold five full Cabinet positions.


Nick Clegg had decided to allocate the final Cabinet post to me. He tried to reach me by mobile phone late on the Tuesday night, but my phone had run out of battery. By the time I received his message, after midnight, Nick had sensibly gone to bed.


When I called him back the following morning, Wednesday 12 May, I was crossing Parliament Square on the way back from completing a morning round of interviews at the Millbank media centre.


‘Thanks for calling back, David,’ said Nick. ‘Cameron and I are pulling the government together. I have to decide what departments we are in. Obviously I want to find a role for you. I think there is a strong case for us securing the areas that our party has a strong identity in, which is why I wanted Climate Change. So I was also thinking about something like Transport for you.’


I had no desire to be Transport Secretary, nor did I think it would be remotely sensible to have no Liberal Democrat in the engine room of government – the Treasury. This was where much of the focus of government would be, and this was where we had to have Liberal Democrat clout if we were to secure the funding for our own policy priorities.


‘Well,’ I said. ‘I don’t want to be presumptuous, but we really need someone in the Treasury. I think we should seriously consider the role of Chief Secretary, which is an area I already know well. The fact is that this parliament is going to be about the economy, and we have to have someone there. And if we want to protect our priority areas and promote our own manifesto priorities, we just cannot entrust that to the Tories.’


‘OK,’ said Nick. ‘That is useful. I will be talking to Cameron soon. I will bear that in mind. But I have to go – I’m at home, and I am supposed to be getting the children to school.’


I went back to my office and waited for the call that almost all MPs hope will one day come.


Eventually, my mobile rang. It was the operator from ‘Switch’. ‘If you could make your way to Downing Street, the Prime Minister would like to see you in about half an hour.’


I left my office and walked the short way from my 1 Parliament Street office to the gates of Downing Street. I was quickly ushered through, for once being able to avoid going through the security scanner. I did my best to look calm and nonchalant as I took the famous walk along Downing Street that so many hopeful politicians had completed before me.


To my relief, the famous door of No. 10 opened just before I arrived at it, and I was ushered through into the lobby of the famous house. It was only the second or third time that I had been there since becoming an MP in 2001. It was an opportunity that Liberals and Liberal Democrats were not in the habit of enjoying.


As if to make that point, as the doorman closed the black door behind me, I saw that someone had cellotaped to the inside window of Downing Street a cutting from that day’s Sun newspaper. Under the uninspiring headline ‘Britain’s Leading Lib Dums’ were photos of Vince Cable, Danny Alexander, Chris Huhne and me. The doorman was clearly using the cutting to help identify us as we turned up to join the government. Clearly not everyone in Whitehall had been expecting us.


After a short wait in a side room (‘The Prime Minister is just speaking to the President of France’), I was eventually invited to make the short walk along the central corridor of No. 10, to the lobby just outside the Cabinet Room. ‘Please go in,’ said the smart young lady accompanying me. ‘The Prime Minister is waiting.’


David Cameron was sitting in his place at the Cabinet table, with his jacket off, wearing a white shirt and a blue tie. He invited me to sit opposite him. A photographer then popped in to capture the great moment. ‘David, as you may know from Nick, I want you to join the government as Chief Secretary to the Treasury. You’ll be working with George, who I think you know, and who is looking forward to working with you. The economic challenge is obviously the big thing for us, so it’s going to be terribly important to get it right. I suggest after this you go straight to the Treasury, where George will be waiting for you. Good luck.’


I had got the job I wanted, and the job I believed was essential if the Liberal Democrats were going to make the coalition a success. The meeting in the Cabinet Room was all over in a couple of minutes, and then I was back in the lobby outside. Before leaving, I was asked to go upstairs to meet with Nick Clegg. I walked up the grand Downing Street staircase, with all the pictures of former Prime Ministers. It reinforced the sense that this was history in the making.


Nick Clegg and Danny Alexander were ‘squatting’ in one of the grand reception rooms on the first floor. No one seemed to have thought to provide the Deputy Prime Minister with a proper office yet.


Nick was going through the junior ministerial positions with Danny. He showed me who he proposed to appoint as ministers of state, and I gave my views. Norman Lamb was initially earmarked for Minister of State at Health, but this was changed to Parliamentary Under Secretary at the Department for International Development, and Paul Burstow was substituted instead. Tim Farron and Jo Swinson were also being considered as Parliamentary Under Secretaries, at the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and the Department for Culture, Media and Sport respectively. It later turned out that the two party leaders had rather misjudged the numbers of junior ministers each party had. Nick Clegg thought he had enough for one Lib Dem MP in each department, but this was not the case. Reluctantly, he had to drop Norman Lamb, Tim Farron and Jo Swinson from his first ministerial team.


I chatted very briefly with Nick, and we agreed that we should speak again soon. I was now expected in the Treasury, where a £160 billion Budget deficit was awaiting me.




















‘THERE IS NO MONEY’


MAY 2010





‘There is a car outside to take you to the Treasury.’ One of the posh young ladies who had come into Downing Street with the new Conservative team was waiting for me when I came back down to the lobby. ‘There’ll be photographers opposite when the door opens,’ she said. ‘So make sure you cover up any important papers, or they will “snap” them with long lenses. The car is the black Jaguar, just outside.’


‘Oh, I can walk,’ I said. ‘I don’t think so,’ was the reply. ‘There will be media all over you. You will get in the car and it will take you round to the main entrance to the Treasury, just opposite St James’s Park. When you get there, the Chancellor will be waiting for you at the entrance, just at the top of some steps. Shake hands with him, then the two of you will face the cameras. He will say something nice. Hopefully, you will too. Then you go into the Treasury together. No questions from the media.’


The No. 10 door opened, and I walked out to the large, black Jaguar that was waiting just outside. I didn’t think it appropriate to look too happy, given that I had just been charged with the job of making huge cuts to public spending, so I did my best to look serious. But I had not bargained for the shrewdness of the waiting photographers. As I climbed into the back of the car, one of them shouted out, ‘For God’s sake, smile, you miserable bastard.’ He then caught me with a broad grin on my face as I glanced back to see who had shouted such an unexpected request.


The gates of Downing Street opened and the police officers held back groups of tourists and pedestrians who were gathered on the pavement outside. The Jaguar headed down Whitehall as I thought about what I would say when we reached the Treasury, and before long we had parked just outside the main entrance


George Osborne was waiting for me, looking relaxed and confident. We each said a few words about the big job we were undertaking together, in front of a cluster of journalists and a few camera crews, and then we turned around and disappeared into the Treasury building.


Once up on the second floor, we shook hands again and George turned right towards his large office. I was shown left, and headed down a long, wide corridor towards the ‘Outer Office’ of the Chief Secretary, where all of the private secretaries and other advisers worked. The Chief Secretary had his own dedicated staff of seven, who all seemed very friendly and welcoming.


My private secretary, Chris, then led me through into my own office – large, traditional and high ceilinged, with impressive views over St James’s Park. I noted a general air of solidity and stuffiness. The pictures on the walls were of nineteenth-century sail boats. They looked like they might have been the only items left in the government art collection when someone went to select some items to adorn the walls.


The only sign of modernity in the room was a stand with a white flip chart, near the door. I was later told that it had been brought in by my Labour predecessor, Liam Byrne, and was regarded by the civil service with disapproval, as a sign of new-fangled management consultancy. It was with relish that my private secretary removed it a few days later.


I was now the twenty-eighth Chief Secretary to the Treasury since that post was created in 1961, and the first ever Liberal or Liberal Democrat to hold the position. The role was created in order to reduce some of the burdens on the Chancellor of the Exchequer, and the Chief Secretary’s job was to focus on the control and management of public spending, which now accounted for over 40 per cent of the economy.


In theory, the role was one of the most junior in the Cabinet, as deputy to the Chancellor. But, in reality, the position could be quite powerful, as the office holder had his or her hands on the finances of the government, and would not only play a key role in fixing the budgets of each department but also had to approve major new items of spending. And because the Treasury had to maintain its power over the rest of Whitehall, there was a protocol which meant that however senior the Cabinet minister, anyone who wanted to deal with the Chief Secretary had to come to the Treasury to meet him. The Treasury travelled out of its building to see no one, other than the Prime Minister and – in this coalition government – the Deputy Prime Minister. The former Prime Minister, John Major, sent me a kind note soon after my appointment, telling me that the Chief Secretary position was the job he had most enjoyed in government.


Of course, what was yet to be established was how powerful the Chief Secretary’s job would be in practice in a coalition government. Quite simply, there were no precedents. And what the Treasury was very used to from recent experience were Chief Secretaries who had almost no influence.


Tony Blair, when Prime Minister, used the Chief Secretary’s post primarily to spy on Gordon Brown. Quite simply, his Chancellor often refused to tell even the Prime Minister what policy options he was considering.


In just thirteen years of Labour government, between 1997 and 2010, there were ten different Chief Secretaries in the Treasury. They were usually bright, upcoming ministers – which was why they soon moved on to higher things. But no doubt it did not help their engagement or longevity that those who served during Gordon Brown’s time as Chancellor were often regarded with ill-disguised suspicion by their Treasury boss, and were often also kept in the dark about key decisions.


My successor, Danny Alexander, was once being briefed by a senior Treasury official on the contents of a Budget Statement, and in the privacy of his office he was being talked through the detail of the Treasury Budget ‘scorecard’. These highly secret documents were prepared before each Budget to cost each policy that Treasury ministers were considering, along with its potential impact on the public finances. ‘The last time I was asked to brief the Chief Secretary on the Budget scorecard, I had to give him the wrong figures, Chief Secretary,’ the Treasury official revealed.


‘What!’ said Danny Alexander. ‘That’s outrageous! Why?’


‘Well, Chief Secretary,’ was the reply, ‘Gordon Brown was very clear that we should not give away the Budget contents to the Chief Secretary. He was worried that it would get back to No. 10. So we had to talk the then Chief Secretary through a bogus scorecard. It was all most embarrassing.’




 





It was clear that the Chancellor and I would soon need to make some major decisions on public spending and on the whole long-term tax, spending and borrowing strategy of the government. We had inherited a Budget deficit of almost £160 billion – a massive 11 per cent of national output. Some people had argued that this deficit had arisen only because of the severe recession and the associated short-term collapse in tax revenues. In fact, Labour had been running a deficit of around 3 per cent of national income when the economic shock first hit in 2007 – in spite of the fact that the economy had been growing for the longest continuous period for centuries.


The UK had entered recession with one of the largest structural budget deficits in the developed world. Labour had sharply increased public spending as a share of gross domestic product, in the belief that this would be paid for by a rise in tax receipts as a share of the economy, and by ever-increasing economic growth. But receipts had underperformed in the run-up to the crash, leaving the Budget deficit higher than planned.


At the end of my first day in the Treasury, I was handed a secret note on options for reducing the Budget deficit over the period of the parliament. I sat late into the evening reading the paper, feeling ever gloomier as I did.


The Treasury paper had been prepared for the incoming government. It set out three possible strategies to reduce the enormous gap between tax revenues and public spending.


Option A involved moderate tax rises, modest cuts to public spending, and a gently declining deficit. It was clear from the accompanying analysis that Treasury officials were not recommending this option. Indeed, it seemed to be little more than a straw man to knock down.


Option C involved such dramatic cuts in spending and such vast increases in taxation that any government seeking to implement it would be out of office before Christmas. The Treasury note treated it more favourably than Option A, but it was also clear to me that it was designed as a frightening, extreme option that we were not expected to sign up to. I wrote various rude comments on this section of the paper, and in general crossed and ticked sections of the paper energetically as I went through it.


That left Option B – the middle way, which Treasury officials were clearly inviting us to sign up to. Even this involved eye-wateringly large spending cuts and tax rises. I indicated on my paper that I favoured something slightly less draconian than the proposals in this paper – a sort of Option ‘B Minus’. The strategy I preferred, with my changes, was almost exactly what the government was later to announce in its June Budget.


I decided that I wanted to read through the long and detailed paper again the next day, to reflect upon its contents. So I popped the paper into the top drawer of my desk and, at around midnight that night, I walked home, deep in thought about the challenges and difficult choices that lay ahead. I had already made clear to my officials that I would not be using the chauffeur-driven Jaguar that had been allocated to me – I did not see how I could be the person charged with tackling wasteful government spending while being driven around in a luxury car. The Permanent Secretary was apparently delighted; the government car service less so. It took about two weeks before they finally gave up trying to talk me round.


The next day, Thursday 13 May, I was back into the Treasury early, at 7 a.m. I opened the drawer of my desk to recover the top secret paper on government fiscal options. It was gone. I searched every drawer, but could find it nowhere.


I was becoming a little worried that my first action as a government minister might have been to lose a top secret Treasury briefing, and imagined that even now one of the department’s contract cleaners might be flicking through a detailed paper on fiscal options, which could soon be on its way to the front page of the Daily Mirror.


I asked my private secretary if he had seen the paper. ‘Of course, Chief Secretary,’ he said. ‘Seen it, summarised your views and circulated your paper with your helpful annotations to the Chancellor, the Permanent Secretary and senior officials.’


I desperately tried to remember quite how rude I had been about Option C and how many expletives had covered the paper. It was an early lesson in how the civil service works.


Anyway, my views needed communicating to colleagues, even if I might have appreciated a little more time to consider precisely what I wanted to say.


As I was planning my work programme for the weeks ahead, my private secretary then came into my office with an off-white envelope, on which was scrawled in blue ink the words ‘Chief Secretary to the Treasury’.


‘Minister, it’s from your predecessor as Chief Secretary, Liam Byrne.’


I tore it open and pulled out the note. It was on ‘Chief Secretary to the Treasury’ notepaper, with a blue embossed crest. Dated 6 April 2010, it read simply: ‘Dear Chief Secretary, I’m afraid there is no money. Kind regards – and good luck! Liam’.


My first reaction was to laugh. My second was to think it was a slightly insensitive thing to say, as it appeared to be making light of the mess in the public finances.


‘Oh well,’ I thought, ‘I’ll keep it. It will make a good diary story. Or maybe I’ll use it as a talking point for the Financial Times interview I’ve agreed to.’


I had long forgotten that there was a precedent for outgoing ministers leaving their successors such notes. They were often kept private but not always so. Famously, in 1964, the outgoing Conservative Chancellor of the Exchequer Reginald Maudling had left his successor, James Callaghan, a note that said: ‘Good luck, old cock … sorry to leave it in such a mess.’ This had been made public and caused the Conservatives considerable embarrassment.


But I was too busy and probably too tired to understand just how politically explosive the note would be. Five years later it would even take centre stage in the next general election campaign. I folded the letter back into an envelope and put it in my desk drawer.


That morning, the coalition government held its first Cabinet meeting, in the Cabinet Room that has been the meeting place for UK governments ever since 1796, when Pitt the Younger arranged for two separate rooms to be knocked together as one.


I took my seat around the boat-shaped table, which dates from 1959, and which Harold Macmillan commissioned to allow people to be seen properly wherever they are located.


It was the first coalition Cabinet for sixty-five years, and the mood was positive and upbeat. Even Vince Cable had entered into the spirit of things. ‘Our coalition may not have been brought about by mutual love,’ he said, ‘but my Indian relatives once told me that arranged marriages are often much more successful than the conventional kind.’ There was a wave of laughter around the Cabinet table. Vince wasn’t always to be so cheery in Cabinet over the next five years.


We quickly agreed the only substantial agenda item – to cut ministerial pay by 5 per cent and then freeze it for the rest of the parliament. And then we were all ushered out into the Downing Street garden for the first Cabinet photograph. Twenty-nine ministers and one Cabinet Secretary were in the photograph. Sixteen of these thirty individuals would survive the five years and sit together around the table at the final Cabinet meeting.


Later that day, the full Cabinet gathered at Buckingham Palace for our formal swearing-in as members of Her Majesty’s Privy Council, and so that Secretaries of State could receive their formal seals of office. It was undoubtedly exciting to sweep in through the gates of Buckingham Palace, past camera-clicking tourists, as the first coalition government assembled.


The whole ceremony lasted over an hour, with all of us standing, including the Queen. Each minister had to ‘kiss hands’ with Her Majesty, while kneeling on a stool with one knee – it was certainly easier for some ministers than others.


We all had to swear the ancient oath of a Privy Counsellor, including that ‘you will not know or understand of any manner of thing to be attempted, done or spoken against Her Majesty’s Person, Honour, Crown or Dignity Royal, but you will let and withstand the same to the uttermost of your power…’


With these early formalities complete, it was now down to work.


The coalition agreement had specified that ‘the parties agree that modest cuts of £6 billion to non-frontline services can be made within the financial year 2010/11’. I was now responsible for delivering these savings.


Six billion pounds was a small amount in the context of overall public spending and the economy: around 0.5 per cent of GDP. Cuts on this scale would have little adverse impact on economic growth. But though small economically, this was a big decision symbolically and politically. All over Europe, governments with large budget deficits were seeing their interest rates on debt soar. In the UK, we had to demonstrate to the financial markets and to the public that even though we had a government of two different parties, it was a government that could deliver on its economic agenda and get the public finances back under control. Delivering the £6 billion of cuts swiftly and efficiently was therefore crucial. I now started work on this in earnest.


Treasury civil servants had already completed background work on the cuts that were needed in each area. They had followed the existing political ‘steer’ that the NHS, overseas aid and defence were to be exempt from the reductions. But they had pencilled in large cuts to the education budget, of well over £1 billion. I made clear that education was a priority for the Liberal Democrats and that I was not prepared to tolerate any cuts to early years education, schools or 16–19 education. George Osborne accepted my decision, which meant that officials had to redo the numbers to find slightly larger cuts elsewhere.


I then met the Treasury spending team. I was about to find out the Treasury secrets of how to carry out a successful Spending Review. It turned out to be rather simpler than I had expected.


‘Chief Secretary,’ said the lead official. ‘Based upon your steers, we have created the following table of cuts for each department. This is based on the efficiency and other savings which we believe each department can make. Once you agree these figures, we will send them out to each Secretary of State. We will ask them to agree the numbers by 24 May, when we are due to unveil the cuts. We will ask each department for more money than we actually need, so that you can negotiate a lower amount without endangering the £6 billion target. All our cuts add up to about £8 billion, so provided you settle for at least 75 per cent of what we have asked each department for, we will be OK. But if you agree less with any department than 75 per cent, then we will need more than 75 per cent from another. If any department won’t agree, you should point out that they are playing a dangerous game, because if it is a difficult spending round and they are the last to settle, they may have to make up all the savings still required. It is one way to try to persuade your colleagues to get on and settle quickly. Where possible, departments may just agree their figures with officials. But departments which do not accept their figures will be required to have their Secretary of State talk to you on the phone or meet you. If they want to meet you, they will have to come to your office. The Treasury doesn’t do “home visits”.’


‘OK,’ I said. ‘But I am not leaving this to the very last minute. You can tell departments that I will not settle with anyone later than midnight on the Friday before the Monday of the announcement. This has got to be done well, and not all glued together in a rush.’


On Monday 17 May, George Osborne held a press conference in the Treasury to make his first policy announcement: that he was setting up a new ‘Office for Budget Responsibility’, so that the economic assumptions used by the Treasury were in future independently audited rather than being open to political interference. It was a good and positive announcement, with little that was controversial. I joined the Chancellor in one of the large downstairs rooms in the Treasury. The media all looked a little bored, given that it all seemed rather sensible and dull.


Towards the end of the press conference, the Chancellor called upon me to speak, and to lighten the mood a bit I decided to mention the Liam Byrne note that I had received a few days before. I had not mentioned the letter to George Osborne, and nor did I have a copy with me. I paraphrased the Byrne note as ‘I’m afraid there is no money left’, inadvertently adding the word ‘left’ to the end of the sentence.


I could tell that a few of the journalists had perked up a bit after my story, but I did not realise what a touchpaper I had lit until I got back to my office upstairs.


Within minutes, the Chancellor’s head of press had dashed into my office. ‘Where is this letter?’ he asked. ‘The media are going nuts about it. It’s going to be a huge story. The Sun want to put it on their front page tomorrow. They all love it.’


I showed our press team the note, but refused to hand it over. I was told later that the No. 10 head of press, Andy Coulson, had sent out an ‘instruction’ telling me to hand over the letter. Feeling now a little guilty about what I had done, I refused the request. George Osborne supported my decision. He might have been a little upset that his own announcement was being completely eclipsed. But by now it all hardly mattered – the media were busy mocking up their own letters for the next day’s papers.


The rest of the week was spent securing the £6 billion savings from Cabinet colleagues. I managed to persuade Ken Clarke, the Justice Secretary, to settle first, to encourage the others. I spoke to him over the phone and he sounded as nonchalant and relaxed as if he were settling a small bill for monthly garden maintenance: ‘Yes, I agree your figure of 320, David,’ he said. ‘I think it was actually 325,’ I replied. From the other end of the line there was a rustling of paper. ‘OK. Fine by me,’ was the reply. I had secured my first contribution to our savings target: £325 million from the Justice Department. My officials seemed relieved, and looked on with benign approval. They had a Chief Secretary who could be trusted to do the job.


In my outer office, where the private secretaries worked, a large piece of white paper was stuck to the wall. Down the side was a list of departments. Next to each was the savings target for the department. The next column was the amount that I had agreed with the relevant Secretary of State. Of course, Treasury officials were listening in to each call.


Most ministers proved easy to deal with. Chris Huhne at Energy and Climate Change, Philip Hammond at Transport, Michael Gove at Education, Eric Pickles at Local Government and Iain Duncan Smith at Work and Pensions were all amongst the ‘good boys’.


The awkward squad were Home Secretary Theresa May, Business Secretary Vince Cable and Culture Secretary Jeremy Hunt.


Jeremy Hunt had clearly already received the full Department for Culture, Media and Sport indoctrination in how to deal with the threat of the Treasury axe. I spoke to him on the phone. He made three points. Firstly, that he was of course entirely signed up in principle to making the savings needed across government. Secondly, that however desirable this was across the government as a whole, the arts lobby were terribly influential and would create a most awful political stink if we forced the requested scale of cuts onto them. And thirdly, that his department and its budget were so small that their cuts would in any case make little difference to overall public spending – the tiny savings weren’t, in other words, worth the political risk. This latter excuse was, I discovered, used by all smaller departments and particularly by the Foreign Office.


Jeremy Hunt then offered to ‘meet me’ way below the minimum amount I was prepared to settle for. I said this was too little. Jeremy then said that if he could not get a good settlement from me, he would be willing to appeal to the Chancellor. I wasn’t impressed with this attempt to bully me, and was confident that George Osborne would feel obliged to support me. After all, the demand for these cuts had originated from the Conservative Party. However, we were quibbling about £10 million or £20 million, and we were already well on track to deliver our overall savings. I decided to agree a final figure that was lower than the minimum amount I wanted, but on the strict condition that Jeremy Hunt would have to deliver the full cuts in the next, far more serious, spending round that was to come.


Vince Cable was also surprisingly difficult. He had been our Treasury spokesman until May 2010, and at that time he had been very ‘gung-ho’ for cuts. He had even been advocating the complete closure of the Business Department, which he had now taken over. But by the time he came to see me at the Treasury, he seemed to have gone native overnight.


The Business Department was too large to claim that it was too small for its cuts to matter. So Vince had clearly been briefed with another line by his department. Vince claimed that all the possible savings in the Business Department had already been made, under the outgoing Labour government, and that he couldn’t possibly deliver anything like the scale of savings needed. I didn’t buy the argument and pointed out where I thought cuts could be made without creating problems. There was a stand-off and I refused to give way.


Eventually, the Business Department offered up a small number of cuts, including a proposal to terminate a grant made by the last government to a Sheffield business called Forgemasters. I was rather surprised by the specificity of the cut, and was suspicious that by proposing a cut in the backyard of the Sheffield constituency of the Liberal Democrat leader, the Business Department was trying to offer up cuts that it felt could not be politically accepted.


I rejected the Forgemasters cut as an item for the £6 billion of savings, and said it needed to be swept up into a wider review of projects approved and grants made at the end of the last period of Labour government. I also hoped that this would give a chance for a sensible discussion about both the economics and the politics of this proposed cut.


Eventually, and rather grumpily, Vince Cable settled with me at a figure above my minimum level. In return, I agreed that some £500 million of the £6.25 billion of savings that we eventually made could be used to fund priorities such as business rates relief, new investment in further education colleges, extra apprenticeships and more investment in social housing – much of which benefited Vince’s own department.


That left only the Home Secretary to settle with. To my surprise, Theresa May insisted on coming to see me in my department. We fenced over the figures. Eventually, the Home Office was forced to accept my minimum offer at 11 p.m. on Friday 21 May – one hour before my midnight deadline.


The Chancellor and I were delighted. We had exceeded the £6 billion cuts target by £250 million, and had settled with colleagues over two days before the date we had fixed for the announcement.


The announcement of these first steps towards returning the UK budget to balance was made jointly by George Osborne and me in the Treasury courtyard on a beautiful, sunny spring day. The UK and indeed world media were seated in front of us, and Treasury officials leaned out of windows around the courtyard to watch the spectacle. Two rostrums had been erected against the wall of one side of the courtyard, and the Chancellor and I spoke from these.


George Osborne made some opening comments and I then set out the details of the cuts. I made clear that we could not go on as a government increasing borrowing at the rate of £3 billion per week, and we were taking the first steps to restore order to the public finances.


It was a decisive display of unity by the new government and helped to boost confidence in the financial markets that the coalition would deliver.


But I also made clear that the new coalition government would ‘cut with care’. The Liberal Democrat presence in the government would ensure that areas such as education would not face the axe, while low-paid public sector workers were to be exempt from the civil service pay freeze. It was a crucial part of the Liberal Democrat role, to ensure that the burdens of austerity did not fall on those in society with the lowest incomes. That was a crucial issue for me and for our party. I saw myself as the Liberal Democrat representative to the Treasury, not the Treasury’s representative to my party.


I was also able to announce the money for 40,000 more apprenticeship starts, more social housing starts and an investment pot for the run-down colleges’ estate.


The financial markets were content. The Liberal Democrats were content. And our coalition colleagues were happy too. It was a good start. Two days later, I was called to the House of Commons to set out the results of the Spending Review. Our case was an easy one to make, while Labour MPs found it difficult to pick holes in our strategy or to claim that the cuts were in any way regressive.


I had then earmarked the rest of the week to start preparing for the Emergency Budget, which had now been announced for 22 June. The Emergency Budget would set out plans for government spending, taxation and borrowing from 2011 right through to the end of the parliament. I had decided to complete my own fast-track assessment of the spending plans of all departments ahead of this.


I wanted to make sure that the Liberal Democrat side of the coalition would not have to agree to a total envelope for public spending until we had established whether or not this could be delivered within the constraints of the overall commitments both parties had made. I was particularly keen to ensure that there would be adequate funding for important pledges such as the £2.5 billion pupil premium, the guarantee on NHS funding, and the target of meeting the UN objective of spending 0.7 per cent of gross national product on overseas aid.


So I set about holding detailed meetings with all the spending teams in the Treasury to seek to establish what savings could be made at acceptable political, economic and social cost.


Separately, I met in 11 Downing Street on Thursday 27 May with George Osborne and his senior advisers and Treasury civil servants to sketch out the broad parameters of the forthcoming Budget. We discussed for the first time the possibility of raising value added tax from 17.5 per cent to 20 per cent. George Osborne also revealed that he had just held a private dinner with Ruth Kelly, the former Labour minister. She had suggested that the respected Labour peer and leading Blairite John Hutton might be willing to chair a commission to reform public sector pensions. That certainly appealed to George Osborne’s sense of political mischief.


I promised to complete over the upcoming bank holiday weekend a report to the Chancellor on possible public spending savings, for him to take away and read on his forthcoming visit to the Far East.


But the next day, Friday 28 May, was to be a day in my Yeovil constituency. I finished work late on Thursday evening in the Treasury and said good night to my private secretary. I was already loving my job and looking forward to spending Sunday and Monday preparing my Spending Review paper.


I shut the door of my Treasury Office on Thursday night to head for home. I did not know that the next time I would return to this office, it would be to practise my resignation statement. 

















RESIGNATION


MAY 2010





On Friday 28 May, I drove back down from London to my Yeovil constituency. I had a day full of engagements, as well as two scheduled advice centres for constituents.


On the way down to Somerset, my mind was buzzing with thoughts about how to handle my upcoming review of departmental budgets.


I was due to see the editor and chief reporter of one of the local newspapers, the Western Gazette, in my constituency office, at around 11 a.m.


About fifteen minutes before this meeting, I was contacted by the Treasury press office. They said that they had been approached by the Daily Telegraph with a story about my private life and my parliamentary expenses. They were forwarding it to me, they said, and would need a response.


For all my life, I had chosen to keep my sexuality private, from my family, friends and colleagues. But I was in a relationship, with another man, and I had chosen to keep this secret. Given the way the parliamentary allowances system operated, it would have been hugely in my financial interest to be open about this relationship, but I had never wanted to reveal this aspect of my life. There seemed no good moment to come out, and there seemed many good reasons to put off difficult and uncomfortable conversations.


In trying to keep my relationship a secret, I put myself in a position where I could be seen to be in breach of a recent rule which meant that MPs could no longer pay rent to family or ‘partners’; a rule that had not existed when I first entered the Commons. But I had not considered us to be ‘partners’, and as the effect of my actions was to reduce my claims upon the taxpayer, I did not consider it at the time to be wrong.


But now I was faced with either denying that I was in a relationship, which would not be true, or admitting that I was, in which case I might be under huge pressure to resign.


Not only did I have these considerations to deal with, but I realised that within twenty-four hours I would have to tell all my family, my friends and my close colleagues something of huge sensitivity about myself that I had chosen to hide for forty-five years.


I knew that I could just about deal with revelations about my private life, and I could account for my decisions about my parliamentary allowances. What I could not cope with was dealing with both issues in one go. And as I was now the person charged with making potentially painful cuts in public spending, I knew that I could not have the authority to do this while awaiting the results of an inquiry by the parliamentary ombudsman, to whom I would refer myself, which usually lasted many months.


Two minutes after I’d absorbed this news, the editor and chief reporter of the Western Gazette turned up to interview me in my offices about my ‘exciting and challenging new job in the heart of government’. For forty-five minutes, I did my best to retain my composure and answer the questions. I knew that by the time the interview came to be printed in this weekly publication, most of the contents of the discussion would be out of date and irrelevant. The story about me would be a very different one.


After that was a horrible thirty-six hours – breaking the news to James, my mother, my family, and my closest friends; endless phone calls with Paddy Ashdown and Nick Clegg, both of whom were magnificently supportive; discussions with my local constituency staff and constituency chairman; and, finally, taking the very personal decision to resign from the job that I cherished.


Jane Ashdown was kind enough to look after me at the Ashdowns’ house in Norton sub Hamdon – my car tucked around the side of the houses, out of press view.


Nick Clegg, Paddy Ashdown, and the Prime Minister were all very supportive and tried to persuade me to stay. But you expect that from friends and colleagues. When you are a politician in this type of circumstance, you owe it to everyone else to accept the responsibility to determine, yourself, whether to stay or go.


I was sure that it was in my personal and family interest for me to resign, and I never doubted that this was in the government’s best interest too.


By the end of Friday, I was determined on resignation. On Saturday, Nick Clegg and Paddy Ashdown made further attempts to change my mind, but my view was now settled. Poor Nick and Miriam Clegg were supposed to be enjoying a relaxing weekend in Paris with their family – their first break for many months. Nick had to get back on the train and come back to London.


It was decided that my resignation should be on camera, and not just be a statement to the press.


On Saturday afternoon, 29 May, I left Somerset in my car. My constituency chairman, the formidable and loyal Cathy Bakewell, drove. Nick Clegg’s then press chief, Jonny Oates, joined us to field media calls.


As we made the three-hour car journey to London, I received many kind text messages from colleagues, urging me to continue. I was particularly touched to receive messages from Conservatives such as my next-door MP, the Cabinet Office minister Oliver Letwin.


Halfway to London, we suddenly realised that if I was going to resign, I had to let the Prime Minister know, and not only Nick Clegg.


We pulled in to a service station off the A303, just after Stonehenge, and from there I made the call. David Cameron was at Chequers. It was a short conversation and I made clear that my decision was not reversible. I had joined the government in the Cabinet Room of No. 10. I left it on a mobile phone outside a petrol station in Wiltshire.


We stopped in Kennington, near Paddy Ashdown’s house. There we were met by a car and driver from the government car service. As Chief Secretary, I had just signed off on a deeply unpopular (with the drivers!) cut of one third in the budget for this service. I had also rejected the chauffeur-driven Jaguar used by my predecessors as Chief Secretary. I must have been rather unpopular with the drivers, who relied on this spending for their livelihoods, but if my driver this day felt any sense of pleasure, he didn’t show it.


Jonny Oates and I were driven across the river towards Westminster. As we entered the Treasury courtyard, we were met by a private secretary from my office and Sean Kemp, a Liberal Democrat press officer, who was hugely supportive and perhaps a little emotional.


As it was a Saturday, the Treasury was empty. We went up to my office on the second floor, and I was left for ten minutes to practise my resignation statement, which I had written by hand on two sheets of A4 paper.


Jonny insisted on me reading through the resignation statement in front of him, to test my resilience. Then Sean came in: ‘They’re ready for you now.’


On my desk, I left a short note of good wishes for my Liberal Democrat successor. I also left a gift given to me by my local constituency party just after the general election, when I had taken on the role of Chief Secretary. It was a knife, with a gold Liberal Democrat election rosette on it. ‘It is a reminder that when you are cutting, you must cut with care and while remembering what principles our party stands for,’ I was told when it was presented to me.


I read out my resignation statement in a large, modern, characterless room on the ground floor of the Treasury. There was only a television camera, with a crew of two people hovering behind it. We said nothing to each other, and we did it in one take. It did not take long to read the few paragraphs, and I completed it without stumbling, but while looking exhausted and emotionally drained.


Then I was led back to the Treasury courtyard, where I thanked Jonny Oates and Sean Kemp for their support. The private secretary who was with us gave me a brief hug, and whispered, ‘Don’t worry, you’ll be back.’


The black government car service vehicle I had arrived in thirty minutes before was no longer in the Treasury courtyard. Instead, a taxi was waiting for me. There could hardly be a clearer signal that my resignation had now taken effect. I got into the back of the cab and we drove out of the Treasury. I had been in government for just eighteen days. Now the coalition I had helped form would continue without me.

















A NEW CHIEF SECRETARY


MAY–DECEMBER 2010





It was autumn of 2010, and I was sitting in Michael Gove’s office in the Department for Education – out of office, but still ‘in the loop’.


Michael Gove leaned back in his seat: ‘I must say that Danny Alexander is doing an absolutely brilliant job as Chief Secretary isn’t he? I think he is carrying the Laws flame aloft in the Treasury. I think of him as Luke Skywalker to your Obi-Wan Kenobi.’


I smiled and nodded, not sure whether this was all a good thing or not. In life, one doesn’t always welcome hearing what a brilliant job your successor is doing, and in any case I couldn’t remember who Obi-Wan Kenobi was, and had rather mixed the Jedi master up with the small astromech droid, R2-D2. As a consequence, I was struggling to see the relevance of the Education Secretary’s comparison.


But in the few months since my resignation, the new Chief Secretary had certainly settled in well.


During the car journey to London on 29 May to make my resignation statement, Nick Clegg had called through for a final discussion before my announcement. ‘I have been thinking who might replace me,’ I said. ‘I think Vince should probably stay at Business, and I guess he would want to. But both Ed Davey and Chris Huhne are very economically literate. Either of them would do a great job as Chief Secretary.’


There was a pause. Then Nick Clegg said, ‘They would be good. But I have already thought about it, and I am going to switch Danny Alexander to the Treasury and put Mike Moore in as Scottish Secretary.’


I was surprised, for a moment, by this decision. Danny Alexander was very young and had limited experience of economic policy. I had not considered him to be the most obvious choice to be Chief Secretary. But I could immediately see the reasons why Nick had made this decision. Danny was Nick’s chief of staff. He was highly trusted, extremely hard working, competent and reliable. He had written our manifesto. He had led our coalition talks. He was already at the centre of government. He knew and got on well with George Osborne.


And Danny was very easy to underestimate. He had come in as a new MP in 2005 and in my mind at the time he was likely to be a middle-rank member of our shadow team. His CV – as a national parks press officer and campaigner for entry into the euro – did not seem as strong as that of many of the new generation of ‘Orange Book Liberals’.


But I soon realised that Danny was very, very ambitious; very, very, bright; and capable of robust, independent thought. There was nothing mediocre about him at all. And within a year of being elected, he told me that one day he intended to be leader. I could see that he was deadly serious.


Danny was in fact the obvious choice as Chief Secretary because of his own abilities and his character. It would also have been very difficult for coalition working if the new Chief Secretary had been either Vince Cable, the ‘sage of Twickenham’, who might easily overshadow George Osborne, or Chris Huhne, the sharp-elbowed Energy Secretary and former economic journalist, who was not overburdened by modesty and who would also undoubtedly be a challenging colleague to deal with.


I did my best to brief Danny Alexander over the phone on the work I had been doing. In his first days he had to deal with media questions about his tax affairs, and with cynical journalists who questioned whether this young, tall, ginger-haired, slightly geeky young man could really hold down one of the toughest jobs in politics.


Danny knew that he had to prove himself quickly. He immersed himself in the work of the Treasury and soon showed his officials that he would be a highly effective replacement. He worked the longest hours that he had ever worked in his life – on many occasions from 6 a.m. to 1 a.m.


The Emergency Budget was scheduled for late June, and the new Chief Secretary had to work on it with the Chancellor. As Danny Alexander was not only Chief Secretary but the sole Liberal Democrat in the Treasury, he had to be consulted not just on spending issues but on the whole tax, spending and borrowing strategy. However, most of the June Emergency Budget decisions had in fact already been taken in the first couple of weeks in government, when I was in the Treasury. These included decisions to raise more money from capital gains tax, and to increase value added tax from 17.5 per cent to 20 per cent.


Danny Alexander also had to oversee the review of grant decisions made by the previous Labour government at the end of its term in office, including a decision to axe a grant to Sheffield Forgemasters, the heavy engineering firm located just outside Nick Clegg’s own constituency. It was not, of course, the job of the Treasury to reject cuts offered by departments. Neither Danny nor Nick wanted to be seen to interfere in a budget decision for political reasons. So when the Business Department recommended termination, the axe came down on the Forgemasters grant. In retrospect, it seems naive to have cut funding to such a major business on the doorstep of the Deputy Prime Minister, in the heart of a Labour-controlled city, within weeks of the coalition being formed.




 





It helped that Danny Alexander and George Osborne got on so well. They liked and respected each other and had a similar sense of humour. When the time came to agree the June Budget, it seemed obvious for the Conservative Prime Minister and Chancellor to meet with the Liberal Democrat Deputy Prime Minister and Chief Secretary to approve the package of measures. The civil service were used to labelling meetings between two senior ministers ‘bilaterals’. With four senior ministers present, the Budget meeting was noted in the diary as a ‘Quadrilateral’. And so was born the ‘Quad’ of four top coalition Cabinet colleagues, who met effectively as an inner Cabinet on a regular basis for the rest of the parliament, and who took many of the key decisions on the work of the government.


Lower-profile, but perhaps even more important, were the regular weekly bilateral meetings between Nick Clegg and David Cameron, which took place in the Prime Minister’s small Downing Street office. These new, semi-formal mechanisms completely displaced the need for any formal ‘coalition committee’, as either the Quad or the bilaterals resolved all matters of dispute that could not be sorted out at a lower level, for example between Oliver Letwin and me in the last three years of government.


After the Chancellor’s Emergency Budget in June, which set the borrowing, spending and tax framework for the next three years, Danny Alexander now had to carry out the first full-scale, multi-year Spending Review. This was the moment I had been starting to prepare for just before I left the government.


Our decision to occupy the Chief Secretary’s post now came into its own. Danny was not only able to veto the proposed Conservative cuts that we did not support, but he was able to ensure that Liberal Democrat priorities such as the pupil premium were fully funded. To my delight, Nick Clegg and Danny Alexander ensured that there would be a pupil premium introduced in 2011, which would rise from £625 million in this first year to the promised £2.5 billion by the end of the parliament. This would not be carved out of general schools funding, but would be on top of a guarantee to protect spending for each pupil in cash terms.


Had the Liberal Democrats not been in government, it is unlikely that there would have been a pupil premium of any significance, and the Conservatives would have cut real schools spending by around 10–15 per cent over the parliament, which we were able to reject. Instead of a cash freeze in the schools budget under the Conservatives, there was now modest real growth under the coalition.


Nick Clegg played a key role in insisting that the schools budget should be protected in real terms and that the pupil premium should amount to the full £2.5 billion that had been promised in the Liberal Democrat manifesto as one of our four flagship pledges. Indeed, it was Nick Clegg who telephoned Michael Gove, the Education Secretary, to give him the good news about his budget settlement – at a time when the Deputy Prime Minister and Michael were still working well together.


Nick Clegg played one other crucial role in this first Spending Review – insisting on a proper, long-term, funding settlement for the BBC. Senior Conservatives were considering putting the BBC on a short leash, with one- or two-year budget settlements and deep cuts in areas such as the World Service. After the Liberal Democrat leader’s personal intervention, the BBC was granted a healthy and long-term budget settlement.


Of course, most of the Spending Review negotiations involved tough decisions, not extra spending. Danny Alexander agreed large cuts to the Local Government Department and to the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. William Hague, at the Foreign Office, was able to strike a deal directly with George Osborne – the only Cabinet minister given this privilege as of right. As a consequence, Treasury officials felt that the Foreign Office got off rather lightly – a fact confirmed by their subsequent opening of a swathe of new embassies and consulates. The Foreign Office would have fared rather worse if its budget had been left to the decisions of a Liberal Democrat Chief Secretary.


Ken Clarke, the Justice Secretary, who had been the first to agree the in-year cuts to his department with me, now took a tougher line. He warned of prison riots if he was required to deliver the cuts requested by the Treasury, and insisted on taking his appeal to the Prime Minister and Chancellor. Ken eventually settled with George Osborne, but as it was all completed rather informally, the record of what had been agreed was a little vague. The Chief Secretary’s office had to argue the settlement out with the Ministry of Justice for months to come.


The generals and admirals at the Ministry of Defence fought hard for their budget and tried to threaten and bully the Chancellor and Prime Minister into making concessions. Ultimately, the Ministry of Defence settlement was probably one that both sides were pleased with – it involved a much smaller cut than requested by the Treasury, but delivered material savings all the same.


Jeremy Hunt at Culture, Media and Sport, in spite of the undertakings made to me in May, rolled out the usual arguments about small savings leading to a large amount of political noise. ‘Cultural’ figures were mobilised to make a fuss, but eventually the Treasury took a large slice out of the budget anyway. It probably should have been more.


At the Department of Energy and Climate Change, Chris Huhne was rather difficult. At the best of times, he was a person who would cross the political street for a good row. He eventually settled, and secured a good deal for his department – not least because green issues were a Liberal Democrat priority.


Theresa May, the Home Secretary, was a tough negotiator and fought her own corner with some determination. But she was a straightforward person to deal with, and Danny Alexander came to like and respect her: ‘She is tough, but she will listen and respond,’ was the Chief Secretary’s view.


Vince Cable, in the Business Department, was now becoming the toughest, and from a Treasury perspective, most awkward, Cabinet minister in government. He was conscious that the Treasury considered his science budget to be important for economic growth, as did he. So it was clear that science could yield only modest savings. The Business Secretary was also a passionate advocate of vocational education and adult education, in the face of Conservative indifference and Treasury scepticism about value for money. Vince saw himself as the guardian of this budget line against the ‘barbarism and snobbery’ of the Treasury and the Conservatives.


But once these areas of the business budget were relatively well protected, there was only one budget line left that could possibly yield the massive savings required to meet the Treasury’s demands for cuts. That budget line was for higher education. And with the Browne Review into higher education finance now about to report, that was to put the issue of university tuition fees right into the political spotlight. It was not a happy tale.
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